IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 94282.0

COURT OF APEALS NO. 73528-4-I

HOLDEN-McDANIEL PARTNERS, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF ARLINGTON; WOODLAND RIDGE JOINT VENTURE; KAJIMA DEVELOPMENT CORP.; ARLINGTON COUNTRY CLUB, INC.; BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7583 Bryan Telegin, WSBA No. 46686 BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP 1424 Fourth Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 264-8600 Attorneys for Appellant



FILED MAR 2 2 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT \sim

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Plaintiff Holden-McDaniel Partners LLC, appellant below, hereby petitions for review of a portion of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part II.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Holden-McDaniel seeks review of a portion of the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals for Division I in the case of *Holden-McDaniel Partners*, *LLC* v. *City of Arlington*, *et al.*, No. 73528-4-I (Jan. 9, 2017) (App. A hereto).¹ On February 8, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied a timely motion to publish (App. B), thereby resetting the 30-day deadline for this petition for review. *See* RAP 13.4(a).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Under the established law of Washington, a person "intends" to cause a particular result if he or she acts with knowledge, to a substantial certainty, that the result will obtain. Where the defendants designed and constructed a large housing development and golf course with knowledge that it would cause flooding on Holden-McDaniel's land, did they intend to cause the resulting nuisance and trespass by water?

¹ Appendix A contains the Court of Appeals' revised opinion dated January 9, 2017, following its partial granting of Holden-McDaniel's motion for reconsideration. Appendix A also contains the Court of Appeals' order on that motion. We refer to these two documents as "App. A, Opinion" and "App. A, Order" respectively.

2. This Court has said that "intent to trespass may ... include an act that the actor undertakes realizing there is a high probability of injury to others and yet the actor behaves *with disregard* of those likely consequences." *Bradley v. Am. Smelting & Ref. Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 677, 682, 709 P.2d 782 (1985) (emphasis added). Where the defendants knew their actions would cause flooding on Holden-McDaniel's land, but "ignored" that risk and proceeded anyway (App. A, Opinion at 19), may they be liable for the resulting trespass and nuisance?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Overview of the Issues</u>

This petition for review raises a fundamental issue of the law of tort: What is "intent"? Until now, the answer to that question has been clear and unambiguous. "Intent" refers not only to an actor's desire to bring about a particular result, but also knowledge, to a substantial certainty, that the result will obtain. In other words, if you know the consequences of your actions, then you "intend" those consequences even if you do not desire them or act for that purpose.

This has been the law of Washington at least since *Bradley v*. *American Smelting and Refining Company*. There, this Court held definitively that "[i]ntent is not. . . limited to consequences which are desired. If the actor knows that the consequences are certain, or substantially

certain, to result from his act, and still goes ahead, he is treated by the law as if he had in fact desired to produce the result." *Bradley*, 104 Wn.2d at 682 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 8A, cmt. b (1965) and collecting authorities). Under *Bradley*, intent is broader than desire. It is knowledge, too.

Here, the controversy over the issue of intent arises in the context of a large residential development and golf course known as Gleneagle, which sits high on a hill above Holden-McDaniel's property in Arlington, Washington. *See generally* App. A, Opinion at 2–3. For many years, Gleneagle's excess stormwater has caused the repeated flooding of Holden-McDaniel's land. *Id*.

Critically, the defendants knew — when they undertook the project — that its excess stormwater would far exceed the capacity of the downstream conveyance system across Holden-McDaniel's property, and that flooding would be the inevitable result. This was known to defendant Woodland Ridge Joint Venture, the private developer responsible building much of Gleneagle, and the City of Arlington, which participated extensively in Gleneagle's design. But they proceeded nonetheless.²

² The City of Arlington has, at times, denied that it actively participated in the design of Gleneagle. Because that was not addressed by the Court of Appeals and is not germane to the issues in this petition for review, we do not discuss it here. Should the city raise that issue in its response, we note it was dealt with extensively in our summary

On January 5, 2011, Holden-McDaniel initiated the current lawsuit to finally end the repeated flooding of its land. Among other claims, the complaint alleged trespass and nuisance against the City of Arlington, the Joint Venture, and others involved in the project's development. *See generally* CP V:2123–32. The lawsuit involves many issues and defenses. *See, e.g.,* App. A, Opinion at 6–19. But for this petition for review, the only relevant issue concerns the superior court's dismissal, on summary judgment, of Holden-McDaniel's intentional tort claims. The court dismissed those claims on the false basis that Holden-McDaniel failed to submit evidence on the *prima facie* element of intent. *See* CP I:54–55. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's ruling on that issue. App. A, Opinion at 18– 19.

The superior court and Court of Appeals got it wrong. Further, their decisions on the intent issue conflict with the unambiguous holding of *Bradley* and its progeny. The defendants knew Gleneagle would flood Holden-McDaniel, but proceeded anyway. They acted with "intent."

judgment papers and reply brief before the Court of Appeals. See CP X:2827-38; Amended Reply Brief of Appellant at 31 n. 29 (Jan. 19, 2016).

We also note that the Joint Venture has questioned its scope of liability for Gleneagle, arguing that it cannot be responsible for shortcomings in the project's "Sector 1." That, too, is meritless and was addressed below. Amended Reply Brief of Appellant at 2 n.3 (noting, inter alia, that the Joint Venture "rebuilt the surface water management systems" tied to that phase of Gleneagle" (quoting CP II:601)). The Joint Venture is responsible for all of Gleneagle, not just a part of it. *Id. See also* Appellant's Answer to Woodland Ridge Joint Venture, Kajima Development Corp., and Arlington Country Club, Inc.'s Motion for Reconsideration at 7–10 (Dec. 12, 2016).

B. <u>Origin of the Flooding Problem and the Defendants' Prior</u> Knowledge.

At all times relevant to this lawsuit, Holden-McDaniel owned industrial property in Arlington, Washington. Until recently, the property was used to manufacture steel buildings, first by Holden-McDaniel itself and, more recently by its tenant, BlueScope, which took over Holden-McDaniel's steel fabrication business in 2007.³

Beginning in the 1980s, the hill to the east of Holden-McDaniel's property was gradually developed for the Gleneagle project. Prior to Gleneagle, the hill was forested. But with development came clear-cutting, grading, and not surprisingly, increased stormwater runoff. CP III:1196. For decades, Holden-McDaniel has been plagued by flooding from Gleneagle's runoff and poorly designed infrastructure. The first flooding of the Holden-McDaniel property occurred in 1990 soon after the first phase of the project was complete. Since that time, the flooding has continued, including in 1994, 1995, 1996, 1998, 2000, 2002, 2009, 2011, and 2012. *See* CP V:2038, § 5; CP II:673–77. In 2009, the floodwaters caused Holden-McDaniel to lose its lease with BlueScope, costing it millions in damages. *See* CP II:669–71; CP II:701–03; CP II:830–32.

³ During many of the events described in this brief, Holden-McDaniel's steel fabrication business was known as HCI Steel. For simplicity, we refer to both entities as "Holden-McDaniel."

According to the defendants, the flooding problem has a singular point of origin. All of the water generated by the western half of Gleneagle flows into a culvert that passes beneath Holden-McDaniel's property. *See* V:2058, \$ 8–9.⁴ From there, it flows into a ditch on the opposite side of the property and then, in theory, south to the City of Marysville. *Id*.⁵ But the culvert across Holden-McDaniel's property is too small to accommodate all of the excess stormwater. Historically, when its capacity was exceeded, flooding ensued. *See* CP III:1198–99 (expert report of Tom Holz: "for a period of 30 years, . . . discharges from Gleneagle often exceeded the diameter of the culvert and HCI's yard was consequently flooded").

These facts are perhaps best expressed in the Joint Venture's motion for summary judgment, in which it argued that Holden-McDaniel "install[ed] a pipe that that was too small to even convey pre-development flows across its property," and that "Plaintiff should not be allowed to create

⁴ In reality, there are many causes that contributed to the flooding in addition to the restricted flow across Holden-McDaniel's property, discussed below. *See generally* CP III:1194–1203; CP II:835–37; CP I:72–79. Nonetheless, we focus on the restricted flow across Holden-McDaniel's land in this petition because the defendants clearly knew that problem would lead to flooding when they undertook the Gleneagle development, satisfying the *prima facie* element of intent.

⁵ We say "in theory" because the ditch on the west side of Holden-McDaniel's property has proven incapable of accommodating Gleneagle's increased stormwater. In turn, when its capacity is exceeded, it has historically backed up and flooded Holden-McDaniel's property from the west. See, e.g., CP 1197–98. This additional source of flooding is included in Holden-McDaniel's negligence claims. Flooding from the ditch on the west side of Holden-McDaniel's property was cured in 2009 when Holden-McDaniel built a berm on its property to keep the floodwaters at bay. See CP V:2062, ¶ 18.

a bottleneck *causing flooding* for the purpose of extracting 'damages' from fault-free upstream entities." CP VII:2535 (emphasis added). Obviously, there is no evidence Holden-McDaniel installed the culvert "for the purpose of extracting damages."⁶ But the point remains: According to the Joint Venture, the party with principle responsibility for designing and constructing Gleneagle, this "bottleneck" is the root cause of the repeated flooding that has plagued Holden-McDaniel's land for decades. *Id*.⁷

It is also clear the defendants knew about this bottleneck problem from the beginning. For example, when the Joint Venture took over the project in the 1990s, when only a small portion of the project had been built, the City of Arlington attempted to compel Holden-McDaniel into increasing the size of its culvert to accommodate Gleneagle's increased stormwater runoff. *See* App. A, Opinion at 3–4. When Holden-McDaniel refused

⁶ Nor is there evidence that Holden-McDaniel installed the culvert at all. It was installed in 1976, long before Holden-McDaniel acquired the property. CP V:2037, ¶ 2.

⁷ In addition to this bottleneck problem, the Joint Venture has argued that the current flooding problem is caused principally by a new stormwater facility that the city installed in 2002 — the so-called "triangle pond." See CP VII:2529–32. We agree that facility has many problems and contributes to the current flooding problem. See, e.g., CP II:835–37. But it also is clear that the triangle pond's purpose was to remedy the flooding problem that Gleneagle created. See CP II:612–14 (city's 30(b)(6) representative confirming the city built the triangle pond in part to solve Gleneagle's stormwater problems). See also Amended Reply Brief of Appellant at 3, n.3 (Jan. 19, 2016). In that way, the triangle pond represents a failed attempt, on the part of the city, to remedy the problem that Gleneagle and the Joint Venture created. Because the problem persists and the fix has failed, the Joint Venture may still be liable for its original knowledge that construction of Gleneagle would flood Holden-McDaniel's land. Notably, the Court of Appeals also rejected the Joint Venture's argument when it denied its motion for reconsideration. See App. A, Order at 2.

because the larger pipe would diminish the utility of its land, the city illegally withheld its approval to expand Holden-McDaniel's business. *See* CP V:2038, \P 7. (That dispute lead to a lawsuit, which the parties later settled. *See* CP III:1107.)

The city's demand to install a larger pipe across Holden-McDaniel's property for Gleneagle's benefit demonstrates that the defendants knew the existing culvert was too small to carry all of Gleneagle's excess stormwater. As the Joint Venture has explained, its engineers "determined the 36[-inch] pipe under [Holden-McDaniel's] property was undersized and . . . [was] insufficient to handle even 25-year *pre-development* flows *without causing flooding*." CP VII:2489 (second emphasis added; first in original). The defendants knew Gleneagle would send more water to Holden-McDaniel's property than the culvert could bear and that flooding would be the inevitable result.

The defendants' prior knowledge that Gleneagle would cause flooding is apparent from several other facts, too. For example, when the defendants signed a rezone contract concerning the Gleneagle project, the Joint Venture agreed to pay the city to mitigate the effects of downstream flooding, thereby acknowledging the reality that downstream systems could not handle Gleneagle's runoff. *See* App. A, Opinion at 2 ("Respondent City of Arlington (City) and [the Joint Venture] entered into a rezone contract where [the Joint Venture] paid the City to upgrade the downstream stormwater system to accommodate the increased stormwater runoff from the project"). *See also* CP III:1328–29, J 19; CP I:390–91, JJ 12–14.

Later, when the city gave its final approval for the project, it expressly authorized Gleneagle to discharge more stormwater to Holden-McDaniel's culvert than the culvert could bear. *See* CP IV:1577 (city allowing Gleneagle to discharge at a rate of up to 28 cfs (cubic feet per second), nearly double the culvert's known capacity); CP III:1364 (discussing culvert's limitations); CP III:1378, 1382 (drainage report from the Joint Venture's engineer; discussing flow of water across Holden-McDaniel's property at rates greater than the culvert could handle).

The defendants also designed alternatives to prevent Gleneagle from flooding Holden-McDaniel's property, but notably chose to forego them. *See, e.g.,* CP II:780 (discussing alternatives to prevent flooding by limiting the flow of water into Holden-McDaniel's culvert to 16 cfs, matching the pipe's limited capacity); CP II:786–91 (discussing possibility of installing a box culvert across Holden-McDaniel's land, preventing flooding and allowing a larger-capacity pipe to be installed without damaging the utility of Holden-McDaniel's industrial yard — an option never presented to Holden-McDaniel). Not only did the defendants know Gleneagle would flood Holden-McDaniel, they jettisoned suggestions to avoid that result.

Finally, the Joint Venture was warned early on that if it wanted to prevent downstream flooding, it would need to greatly expand Gleneagle's on-site stormwater ponds. *See* CP III:1364. But it chose not to heed that advice, likely because doing so would have forced the Joint Venture to give up its golf course and reduced the number of new residential lots.⁸

In sum, the evidence presented below demonstrates that the defendants (a) knew, to a substantial certainty, that the "bottleneck" problem would result in flooding, and (b) they built Gleneagle with full knowledge of that inevitable result. In all of the briefing before the superior court and Court of Appeals below, the defendants have never asserted — or credibly argued — that they did not know flooding would result.

C. Proceedings Below

In March of 2015, the Joint Venture and City of Arlington moved for summary judgment. Their motions raised many issues, including res judicata, release, the statute of limitations, and the common enemy doctrine. *See generally* CP VII:2536–58; CP VII:2488–2535. They also challenged Holden-McDaniel's claims for intentional trespass and nuisance. On that

⁸ See CP III: 1706 (memo from the Joint Venture's engineer; stating, in part, that "As the developer, you are at risk for any downstream consequences of the drainage from Gleneagle. You can reduce those risks by making additional improvements to the downstream drainage system. Alternatively, the detention systems for the project could have been enlarged to only utilize the existing downstream capacity. *The size of the resulting detention facilities would have prohibited use of all of the golf course and decreased your lot count significantly.*") (emphasis added).

issue, they asserted the intentional tort claims should be dismissed because Holden-McDaniel did not satisfy the *prima facie* element of intent. *See* CP VII:2546 at 9 (arguing that "[t]here is no basis for trespass or nuisance, because there is zero evidence that the City 'intended' to cause flooding problems on plaintiff's property"); CP VII:2359 (arguing that "the only intentional misconduct was Plaintiff's intentional installation of a pipe that was too small to accept historical pre-development flows — a decision entirely out of [the Joint Venture's] control").

In support, the city and Joint Venture argued, *inter alia*, that they hired many engineers to solve the bottleneck problem, that they met industry and regulatory standards (*e.g.*, by allegedly designing Gleneagle's stormwater infrastructure to handle a "100-year event"), and that Holden-McDaniel acted unreasonably when it refused to install a larger, protruding culvert across its property. *See* CP VII:2546; CP VII:2359. But none of that negates intent. They may have *tried* to solve the problem, and they may have *tried* to force Holden-McDaniel to install a larger culvert for Gleneagle's stormwater, but they knew those efforts failed *before* they undertook their respective actions. *See supra*, Section IV.B. Their arguments aside, the Joint Venture and City of Arlington still knew

Gleneagle would send far more water to Holden-McDaniel's culvert than it could bear.⁹

On April 24, 2015, the superior court granted the defendants' motions for summary judgment and later dismissed Holden-McDaniel's case in its entirety. *See* CP I:41–62 (order on summary judgment); CP I:36–37 (order of dismissal). In major part, that decision flowed from the court's ruling on the defendants' affirmative defenses of res judicata and release, which were, in turn, premised on a dispute over a prior settlement agreement between the parties. *See* CP I:56–61. On Holden-McDaniel's intentional tort claims, however, the superior court held more specifically that the *prima facie* element of intent was lacking. CP 54–55, ¶ VIII. The Court provided little rationale for that ruling, explaining only that "[t]he evidence in this case, construed in favor of Plaintiff, does not establish intentional conduct as defined by applicable Washington law." CP I:55.

On appeal, Holden-McDaniel succeeded in overturning the superior court's ruling on the affirmative defenses of res judicata and release, which will now allow trial on its negligence claims. *See* App. A, Opinion at 7–18. But the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's dismissal of Holden-

⁹ The Joint Venture also argued that Holden-McDaniel did not plead intentional trespass or nuisance in its complaint. Neither the superior court nor the Court of Appeals addressed that argument. And for good reason, it is meritless. *See* Amended Reply Brief of Appellant at 35 (Jan. 19, 2015); *Shoening v. Grays Harbor Comm. Hosp.*, 40 Wn. App. 331, 337, 698 P.2d 593 (1985) (sufficient to clarify claims on summary judgment).

McDaniel's intentional tort claims. *Id.* at 19. And it did so on an entirely new basis that was not advanced by the parties — instead of addressing whether Holden-McDaniel had evidence sufficient to avoid summary judgment on the issue of intent, the Court of Appeals characterized the dispute as a "failure to act" case that sounds only in negligence:

[Holden-McDaniel] argues that the City and [Joint Venture] had "intent" because they knew that their actions were "substantially certain" to result in flooding because the City authorized the W2 pond to discharge at a rate greater than the known capacity of the culvert located on the Property. [Holden-McDaniel] is essentially arguing that the City and [Joint Venture] knew that the culvert was insufficient and failed to take that into account when it designed and implemented the various elements of a stormwater management system. A claim for failure to act sounds in negligence and does not support the intentional act needed for trespass. Estate of Price v. City of Seattle, 106 Wn. App. 647, 660, 24 P.3d 1098 (2001).

App. A, Opinion at 18–19.

Notably, the Court of Appeals did not hold that the defendants were ignorant of the culvert's limited capacity, or that they did not know, to a substantial certainty, that flooding would result from exceeding that capacity. Instead, it held that when the defendants "designed and implemented" the stormwater system that flooded Holden-McDaniel's property, they were not taking action and that, therefore, the case was properly characterized as a "failure to act" case. This petition for review seeks to reverse that illogical conclusion.

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