RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

4/28/2017 2:27 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 94282-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HOLDEN-McDANIEL PARTNERS, LLC

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF ARLINGTON; WOODLAND RIDGE JOINT VENTURE; KAJIMA DEVELOPMENT CORP.; ARLINGTON COUNTRY CLUB, INC.; and BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION REVIEW

Adam Rosenberg, WSBA #39256 Williams, Kastner & Gibbs, PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380 Ph. (206) 628-6600 Fx: (206) 628-6611 arosenberg@williamskastner.com

Counsel for the Respondent City of Arlington

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Analysis Invited By The Partnership Would Amount To An Advisory Opinion

Even if the legal issue identified in the Petition warranted review under RAP 13.4(b)—which it does not (infra Section B)—this case would

be a poor vehicle for it. The lower courts' application of *Bradley* is only relevant to the extent the Joint Venture and City actually "knew to a substantial certainty" that the Gleneagle development would cause flooding. Conversely, to the extent such knowledge is *not* established, the Court would be doing little more than issuing a speculative, advisory opinion. *See Clallam Cty. v. Dry Creek Coal.*, 161 Wn. App. 366, 393, 255 P.3d 709 (2011); *see also To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 417, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001) ("dispute must be one that the court's decision will conclusively resolve").

Here, as every prior court pointed out, the *evidence* does not support the Partnership's claims. There may be room to dispute "ordinary care," but there is no reason to believe any party desired to cause flooding or knew to a "substantial certainty" that it would occur. The documents cited by the Partnership prove as much. Accordingly, neither affirmation nor rejection of the *Bradley* standard will be of any help to the Partnership—even with a liberally construed record.

Expressed differently, even if the legal issue were worthy of review, the Court would be better served to await a better case, where its ruling would be outcome-determinative. Revisiting or clarifying a rule, divorced from tangible application, will not serve the parties, and is likely to confuse future practitioners.⁷

⁷ "A statement is dicta when it is not necessary to the court's decision in a case. Dicta is not binding authority." *Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles*, 175 Wn. App. 201, 215, 304 P.3d 914 (2013) (internal citations omitted).

B. Review Is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4

Even assuming for the sake of argument that the legal issue presented were outcome-determinative, the result would be no different. RAP 13.4(b) is not implicated. On the contrary, not only has the appellate—including Division I, in this case—applied *Bradley* with remarkable consistently and in principled fashion, but revisiting it as proposed by the Partnership would be subversive to sound public policy.

1. Development and State of the Law

The City agrees that *Bradley v. Am. Smelting & Ref. Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 677, 709 P.2d 782 (1985), is the leading case and sets forth the intentional trespass standard. The problem is that the Partnership selectively block-quotes from it, with no acknowledgment of its fact-driven nature. Some context is in order.

Critically, *Bradley* was decided on stipulated facts, where "knowledge" of the ongoing trespass was undisputed. The case involved a smelting factory which *admitted* to emitting various particulates—including arsenic—onto the plaintiff's property. *Id.* at 680. The issue was not *risk* of trespass; everyone agreed that it was happening on an ongoing basis. *Id.* at 683 ("known for decades"). The smelting factory's defense was that it should prevail on the intentional tort claims, because it did not subjectively "desire" to cause a trespass. This Court disagreed, confirming that "[i]ntent... is broader than a desire to bring about physical results. It must extend not only to those consequences which are desired,

but also to those which the actor believes are substantially certain to follow from what he does." *Id.* at 683.

This standard has been in place, and appropriately applied, for decades. However, the courts have been careful not to wrench *Bradley* out of its logical bounds; and in that regard, distinguish between knowledge of a *fact* and knowledge of a *risk*.

Three years after *Bradley* was decided, in *Seal v. Naches-Selah Irr.*Dist., 51 Wn. App. 1, 4, 751 P.2d 873 (1988), the plaintiff-cherry farmers purchased property subject to "seepage" caused by the water district. It was an ongoing problem, and one the district made repeated attempts to resolve. They failed, and trial ensued. On appeal, the plaintiffs claimed the trial court erred in failing to give them an "intentional trespass" instruction. Division III disagreed, emphasizing the distinction between negligence and "desire to flood":

We disagree with the Seals' assertion under Zimmer and Bradley that the District was culpable of intentional trespass because it knew the canal was flooding their property and failure to repair such damage would cause extensive harm to their orchard. As discussed, the record discloses affirmative measures taken by the District to both prevent and alleviate seepage problems on the Seals' property. There has been no showing by the Seals to equate the District's conduct with a desire to allow water to seep into the orchard. The evidence indicates only negligence on the part of the District. Therefore, the Seals' claim of intentional trespass must fail.

Id. at 6. In other words, simple awareness of flooding is not compatible with "intentional flooding" – especially when the defendant, like the City, is actively attempting to remediate the problem.

Next, in *Price ex rel. Estate of Price v. City of Seattle*, 106 Wn. App. 647, 650, 24 P.3d 1098 (2001), the Court of Appeals held—wholly consistent with authority—that trespass required an "act"—which was, in turn, consistent with its dictionary definition.⁸

environmental consulting firm to examine the cause. It found "an imminent hazard" that a "catastrophic landslide" would occur. *Id.* Seattle took steps, but not enough, and six homes were destroyed. *Id.* at 651. The property owners brought the same claim as the Partnership. Citing *Bradley*, they pointed to the consultant's "imminent" language. *Id.* at 660. Division I dismissed the argument, explaining that "a failure to act" sounds in negligence, *id.*, and hence, merged into the existing negligence claims. *See also Pepper v. J.J. Welcome Const. Co.*, 73 Wn. App. 523, 546, 871 P.2d 601 (1994); *Pruitt v. Douglas Cty.*, 116 Wn. App. 547, 553–54, 66 P.3d 1111 (2003) ("We treat claims for trespass and negligence arising from a single set of facts as a single negligence claim.").

In Grundy v. Brack Family Trust, 151 Wn. App. 557, 569, 213
P.3d 619 (2009), Division II carefully framed the issue, again, in terms of

⁸ "An unlawful *act* committed against the person or property of another; esp., wrongful entry on another's real property." TRESPASS, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (emphasis added).

the *Bradley* standard. *See id.* at 569 (whether the defendant "had knowledge that raising their bulkhead would to a substantial certainty result in [flooding]"). And though the defendants did in fact raise their bulkhead "without considering the consequences"—and presumably "knew to a substantial certainty" that water rolls downhill—it was not enough to sustain the claim. Division II, like the other courts to consider the issue, refused to blur the line between what was *known* and what *should have been known*. *Id.*

The same was true in *Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc. v. S. Columbia Basin Irr. Dist.*, 175 Wn. App. 374, 402, 305 P.3d 1108 (2013), where Division III acknowledged the difference between knowledge of a *risk* of landslides and knowledge that there *would* be landslides. *Id.* ("we conclude that no question of material fact exists as to whether SCBID intended to trespass on JMR's property.").

And most recently, in *Hurley v. Port Blakely Tree Farms L.P.*, 182 Wn. App. 753, 770, 332 P.3d 469 (2014), the court got to the same result in a closer case than ours'. There, the plaintiffs cited evidence that clearcutting increased the risk of landslides by upwards of 3000% which, the they reasoned, furnished the defendants with knowledge of a slide "to a substantial certainty." There was, moreover, no dispute that the defendants "intended to cut down the trees." *Id.* at 7. The court nonetheless rejected the argument, citing both *Price* and *Bradley*:

⁹ Counsel for the Partnership represented the Hurley plaintiffs below and on appeal.

The intent element of trespass can be shown where the actor knows that the consequences are certain, or substantially certain, to result from his act. Even viewed in the light most favorable to Appellants, the nonmoving party, there is no evidence in the record that Respondents knew or were substantially certain that their logging activities would result in a landslide.

Id. at 8. This Court denied review the following year. See 182 Wn.2d 1008 (2015).

In short, the case law developed with remarkable consistency.

There is little debate about the *Bradley* standard, which permits intentional tort claims in some contexts, but not all contexts.¹⁰

2. <u>The Unpublished Court of Appeals Decision Is Entirely</u> Consistent With *Bradley* and Subsequent Case Law

Given the above-framework, Division I's decision was hardly remarkable. It neither "struck at the heart of *Bradley*," nor "gut[ted] it." Br. at 19; 20. The Court of Appeals merely applied a settled legal standard—which it, itself, acknowledged (Op. at 18)—to established facts.

The problem with the Partnership's theory is that our case is very much like *Price*, a holding the Court of Appeals rightly pointed to. Like the property-owners in *Price*, the Partnership cannot meaningfully prove that the City directly harmed or flooded it. Instead, according to its own

¹⁰ The same is true in other contexts. See, e.g., Walston v. Boeing Co., 181 Wn.2d 391, 397, 334 P.3d 519 (2014) (deliberate act under Workman's Compensation law: "Disregard of a risk of injury is not sufficient... certainty of actual harm must be known and ignored.") (emphasis in original); 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 10.05 (4th Ed 2016) (defining "willfully" to require knowledge "as to a particular fact"); cf. Sorensen v. Estate of McDonald, 78 Wn.2d 103, 109, 470 P.2d 206 (1970) (wanton misconduct contemplates intentional conduct on part of host driver that is more reckless and dangerous than gross negligence, yet short of premeditated and deliberate harm).

testimony, the City has only helped the Partnership by developing nearby facilities. *See* CP IV: 1872 (Tr. 248:24-249:19); CP IV: 1894; CP I:471.

So, like *Price*, the Partnership developed a "rescue theory" of its own (*compare* Pet. at 18), in which the City should have done more to stop the private developer from causing harm. As the Partnership's CR 30(b)(6) representative put it:

- Q. In your own words, what did Arlington do wrong to cause you to bring this lawsuit?"
- A. They failed to control the stormwater from the -from other entities, in the development across the
 street, and caused me years of flooding and grief.

CP IV:1872 (247:1-16); see also id (clarifying "City should have controlled the Gleneagle developer's discharge of water better.").

Accepting this theory as true and legally relevant—though, it is neither 11—this was, at best, a "failure to act" which "sounds in negligence and does not support the intentional act needed for trespass." Op. at 19 (citing *Price v. City of Seattle*, 106 Wn. App. 647, 660, 24 P.3d 1098 (2001)). Moreover, the City's repeated efforts to address the problem over the years, like *Seal*, are incompatible with "a desire to allow water to seep into the [Partnership's property]." *Seal*, 51 Wn. App. at 6. And, as even

¹¹ Factually, the record replete with careful analysis and proactive efforts by the City; and legally, the Partnership's attempt to shift blame onto local government is foreclosed by the public duty doctrine. See, e.g., Patterson v. City of Bellevue, 37 Wn. App. 535, 537-38, 681 P.2d 266, rev. denied, 102 Wn.2d 1005 (1984) (local government not liable for increased stormwater associated with growth and private development); Taylor v. Stevens Cy., 111 Wn.2d 159, 168, 171, 759 P.2d 447 (1988) (permit applicant, not government, is responsible for consequences of development); Mull v. City of Bellevue, 64 Wn. App. 245, 251-52, 823 P.2d 1152 (1992) (similar).

the documents cited by the Partnership confirm, the defendants were considering the *risk* of flooding (CP IV:1576-78; CP III:1382; CP II:779; CP IV:1705-08), not the *fact* that it would happen—which courts have never treated as "substantial certainty." *See, e.g., Jackass Mt. Ranch, Inc.* 175 Wn. App. at 402; *Hurley*, 182 Wn. App. at 770.

In the end, the only party claiming that the possibility of flooding was obvious is the one who did not participate in the development. The City looks forward to trial, where a jury can decide if it managed risk consistent with ordinary care. But the four judges who, to date, have rejected the Partnership's "intentional trespass" theory did not err.

Their decisions should stand.

3. Blurring The Line Between Negligence and Intent Is Bad Public Policy

There is perhaps a more fundamental reason review is not warranted: it would create more problems than it would solve. Courts have jealously guarded the line between "should have known" and "actually knew." And for good reason.

The line between negligence and intent is heavily relied upon by those who would seek to apportion risk and liability. Insurance policies commonly exclude "intentional acts," as does Washington's Industrial Insurance Act. *See* RCW 51.24.020 (excluding injuries that are the

-17-

¹² Notably, the only case cited by the Partnership (or found by the City) where an "intentional trespass" was endorsed was *Bradley*—which involved stipulated knowledge of an ongoing trespass. All of the other cases, which involved more compelling and culpable facts than ours, rejected the intentional act allegation as a matter of law. *See* Supra, Section B-1.

product of a "deliberate intention... to produce such injury"). Liability releases, by law, exclude intentional injuries; as do most statutory immunities. *See, e.g.*, RCW 4.24.210 (recreational immunity); *Coldeen v. Reid*, 107 Wash. 508, 515, 182 P. 599 (1919) (qualified immunity for police officers).

Allowing parties like the Partnership to proceed on intentional theories—when it is anything less than clear that the conduct was *intentional*—does little but dislodge apportioned risk, with very little benefit for the impacted party (who will, almost by definition, have a right to recover in negligence).

The problem—illustrated in this case—is that it is actually quite easy to argue the knowledge of the defendant. Especially, as here, when the defendant is sophisticated and went through a fastidious process, performed analyses, and considered various outcomes. Undoubtedly, the Joint Venture knew that downstream flooding was a possibility. But permitting parties like the Partnership to conflate that into an intentional act—when the Joint Venture plainly did not intend to harm anyone—is intellectually disingenuous.

If anything, it puts a premium on ignorance. The documents cited by the Partnership are mainly engineering studies commissioned by the Joint Venture. From the perspective of intentional trespass, it would have been better off not to do them—and proceed without knowledge of risk.

And the City is one step removed from that; it had no obligation at all to

involve itself in private development. It very well could have let one private property owner flood another, which does not implicate government. *See, e.g., Patterson v. City of Bellevue*, 37 Wn. App. 535, 537-38, 681 P.2d 266 (1984). But the City did its job instead. It identified risk and enforced standards—things now cited by the Partnership as "knowledge" of future flooding. False as that may be, the subverted incentives cannot be overstated.

For decades, appellate courts have struck an appropriate balance. Smelting factories that knowingly shower their neighbors in arsenic commit an intentional tort; as does a man who fires a gun into a crowd of people. *Bradley*, 104 Wn.2d at 683. But defendants who evaluate risk—even substantial risk—before acting, are not acting "intentionally." They may have to answer for their decisions in negligence, should they strike a balance inconsistent with ordinary care; but there is no legal, factual, or public policy-based reason to extend the *Bradley* beyond its settled bounds.

Review should be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, review is not warranted. The unpublished Court of Appeals decision should stand.